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  02.40hrs, 23rd June, North Sea. The Royal Navy Harrier Mk3 thundered onwards at 600 m.p.h., into the crimson dawn, anxious to reach its mission- point in the bosom of the rising sun. Like a great seabird, its ‘plumage’ bristling with 25-mm GU-12 cannon and AGM-65E Maverick missiles, the plane tore on through the sky, its Rolls Royce Pegasus turbofan engine screaming out its fiery fury with 21,500lb thrust, to ripple the cold air with its 0.7 Mach anger. Sunbeams pounded the great bird’s beak and tickled its belly, while others exploded into diamonds of coloured light on the glass-fibre wing tips and around the Perspex canopy, where a helmet bobbed and turned. The pilot’s helmet bore a black arrow and he aimed it 90 degrees to starboard to look out. Trained eyes darted about behind the rubber mask in an overall check along the wing; from the glistening rods to the hooded mouth of the engine nacelle, where the sun lingered, but dared not enter, to be churned by the roaring turbine blades. The head turned to port, swinging the convoluted oxygen tube like a wrinkled proboscis.




  The same expert eyes judged the velocity below with their own up here, at 300ft above sea level, and returned to the front with a bob of the head. Land and sea rushed past, where minutes before, HMS Dover’s dull grey deck had been. At 02.31hrs precisely, the signal had come in from the Nimrod on RAF Coastal Command Reconnaissance, Flight 301, reporting the sighting. Flight 301 had reported the plane going down south of the Muckle Flugga rocks, just off the northern headland of Unst. Within two minutes of receiving the coded signal, HMS Dover had jettisoned the Harrier, codename PETREL, from its deck and had it racing north on Blue Alert urgency.




  HMS Dover was part of Naval Strike Force Command and as such, was part of Britain’s contribution to Nato’s Greenland/Baltic maritime air-arm. On constant patrol in these waters, the 20,000 tons Dover was equipped with conventional and nuclear missiles and four Sea King helicopters and three Harriers, to investigate, intercept and ‘nullify’ if necessary, any incidences of ‘hostile influence’ --- what had been the former Soviet Bloc’s Baltic fleet --- and could well be again, the way things were cooling into another Cold War between East and West. The pilot consulted the time: 02.42 hrs. He would soon reach the target.




  Zetland’s southern tip slid rapidly over the gilded silken sea below, nearer and nearer. The pilot’s head bent over the Ferranti Blue Fox radar display screen to check the electronic land map. He spoke into his rubber mask.




  ‘Zetland, CONTROL. About another seven minutes and we’ll be bang on target. Changing twenty one degrees west.’




  The pilot tipped the ailerons with the Boulton Paul actuators, to swing the plane round smoothly and follow the spinal line of the islands. These scattered out ahead, beyond the 60th parallel and Greenland’s toe, in a sprinkling of emerald gems encrusted with golden sun and the rust of Pre- Cambrian cliffs. They were the uppermost jewels in the crown of Her Majesty’s British Dominions and all under the protection of Her Majesty’s Royal Navy. Hundreds of birds flew out in squawking flecks from the furrowed brows of the cliffs, to watch the great royal bird zoom over.




  The radio began to crackle with static, just as the mainland began to splinter up into bronzed fragments: ‘CONTROL calling PETREL. Do you read me, PETREL? Do you read me?’




  ‘Loud and clear, CONTROL.’




  ‘What is your position, PETREL?’




  The pilot looked down at the sea, sparkling gleefully while it rent the land asunder. ‘Just leaving the mainland now. Flying over the Yell Sound. Should be there pretty soon.’




  ‘Can you see anything yet, PETREL?’




  ‘Not yet, CONTROL. It’s too early and the angle’s too wide at this height. Don’t want to fly any higher and spot somebody’s radar.’




  ‘Very well, PETREL. Report as soon as RED WHALE is sighted. Back-up on the way.’




  ‘Okay, CONTROL. Will do.’




  As the islands flitted past beneath them, the pilot watched their ghostly flight on the radar screen, checking them aloud to himself: ‘Yell -- Fetlar -- Uyea -- Unst. Nearly there now.’




  02.49hrs. Sure enough, as CONTROL had promised, support appeared as two dots in the sky far behind the Harrier. They were growing larger by the second. Eurofighter Tornadoes, sent up from RAF Leeming, Yorks, they were catching up fast. Closing in, they flanked the naval plane, right and left. The Harrier pilot held up a thumb to the other pilots.




  On the last island now, the great ‘seabird’ dived down for a scavenger’s look at 100ft. The two Tornadoes climbed up steeply into the sky, to bank over and circle down and round while the other plane went below. Straight ahead, the island began to split on cue into the four-mile-long Burra Firth fjord. The Harrier swooped down the glacial valley with a thunderous scream and there it was, in front.




  The gigantic US Rockwell B-1B Lancer strategic bomber, bereft of its right wing, lay up on the right bank of the loch, like a monster ray fish. Entrails trailed out from the fuselage tail-cone to the GQ ribbon-type parachute brake that floated at the water’s edge. Twisted wing pieces, gleaming and smooth, fitted the scene like discarded claws. The dark General Electric turbofan engine poked out from the belly, like fish roe, dangerously close to the bomb itself. The B83 thermonuclear stand-off bomb lay dislodged to one side of the belly, with the island’s annihilation nestling in its unexploded mercy.




  With the bomb safe for the moment beneath them, their mission was to fend off RED WHALE. Off-shore, the massive 8000 ton ‘whale’, black not red, basked in the sun with sinister glinting silence, while watching its ‘spawn’ scramble from the dinghies and scurry among the wreckage. The Harrier banked up steeply into the sky, blocking out the Russian sailors for a second, as it went into a tight turn. The whole North Sea spun round slowly, driven by the giant 426ft submarine in its ‘screw slot’, the binoculars winking on the 47ft long ‘sail’ of a conning tower.




  ‘PETREL calling CONTROL. Do you read me, CONTROL’




  ‘CONTROL receiving you. Go ahead, PETREL’




  ‘Circling RED WHALE now. Delta class, by the look of her. She’s quite a giant. Easily four hundred feet.’




  ‘She is Delta class. Left Gdynia in Poland six days ago. Last seen patrolling the Icelandic waters until she was reported ‘shadowing’ the plane when it came down.’




  ‘They’ve landed a party on shore. About twenty, I’d say.’




  The radio pipped patiently during CONTROL’s hesitant silence before coming alive again: ‘The bomb must not fall into their hands. Repeat. The bomb must not fall into their hands. You have full permission to intercept, PETREL.’




  ‘Understood, CONTROL. Going in now.’




  ‘Good luck, PETREL.’




  ‘Tally-ho, CONTROL.’




  The jet fighter screamed down in a warning swoop, leaving only sixty feet clearance for the sailors to duck their heads in reflexive fear. Everyone cringed down for a second and then straightened up to watch the great fire- bird climbing high into the sky. The officer snapped them out of their trance, waving his arm and barking them back to work with a voice as broad as the wooden Mauser holster that dangled beside the transmitter slung over his shoulder.




  ‘Spishitye! Mi spishim!’ (Hurry up! We have no time to lose!)




  The guttural Slavic gabblings recommenced and they clambered over the plane. From high above in the sky they looked hardly more serious than romping children on a picnic treasure hunt. But they didn’t carry wooden pirate swords. Instead, they attacked the bomber with oxy-acetylene torches and heavy duty cutters, while those with the cameras climbed into the cockpit. Like Lilliputians, they worked frantically on their great ‘Gulliver’, more afraid of their commander than the Harrier, as it shattered their eardrums with another 600m.p.h screech.




  Ignoring the Harrier, the men worked on feverishly, their tensions hidden inside. The great bomb was beginning to move as the two men in goggles cut away at the fuselage fastenings, behind a deluge of sparks. It looked a frightful load to move, being ominously long and fat with devilishly pointed tail fins.




  That was why the other team was assembling the eight-wheeled hydraulic bogie, attaching buoyancy tanks to its sides and finally a tackle to its end and that to the cable that ran down the beach, into the water and out to the submarine.




  Swooping round for another dive, the Harrier pilot prepared to fire the air-to-ground missile. He judged with lightning speed. Distance was too short for visual guidance by the missile’s aft end flares. He operated the Ferranti Airpass-11 computerised radio command-link lock-on, watching the display screen and fired. The missile rocketed away from the wing with fire-ball fury, to home in on its target, while the plane curved away. The 300lb warhead exploded in the rock-face 100 yards from the men, showering the place with rocks.




  Everyone stopped work and looked around for orders. The officer had none to give, and looked round at the submarine, waiting for his transmitter to speak. No-one went back to work and anxiety mounted as the plane came in again. Everyone dived for cover just before the second warning missile was let loose. The Maverick screamed over their heads and exploded 50yds away, spewing up a shower of rocks that narrowly missed most of them.




  The veteran seaman with the cutter’s goggles looked up at the bomb’s suspension and shook his head pessimistically. It was touch and go whether they could cut it free in the little time that they had. He didn’t think that they could manage it and looked round at the officer and then at the plane circling in the sky. The officer took the message, but didn’t flinch. He kept his stalwart stance, surveying his men in their predicament. He was a seasoned officer. Although too young for the Second Imperialist War in ‘39, or to have looked nuclear war in the eye, when America had later blockaded Russia’s aid to Cuba, he had first seen military service, mostly through binoculars, as a junior ‘naval advisor’ offshore from Cambodia, in the Mekon delta, in the Vietnam conflict. Like any good officer, he was not afraid. But he did respect the safety of his men.




  A startling cry from one of the men, above the Harrier’s roar, solved the problem.




  ‘Smatritye! Smatritye!’ (Look! Look!)




  Shading his eyes from the sun, the officer followed the arm pointing down the valley. After a second’s focusing, the two optical smudges became real solid objects. Popping up and down like wind-hopping dragonflies and coming on at them at 130m.p.h. Sure enough, they were the two Westland Lynx helicopters promised by CONTROL, and sent out from RNAS Unst. Both were armed with machine-guns, torpedoes, and Nord SB3.11 air-to- surface missiles. They each also carried twelve marines.




  That was it. The officer swung his arm and ordered immediate withdrawal from the beach. Grabbing their tools, the men crawled out of the bomber like maggots from a sore host. The artificer with the camera carried a leather shoulder satchel hurriedly stuffed with top secret flight command codes confiscated from the Lancer’s cockpit.




  Somehow sensing the general rush to escape, the massive bomb shuddered and suddenly broke free under its own weight and slithered down the slope, knocking the bogie aside. The old sailor’s eyes widened in alarm at the danger and he yelled to his mate. ‘Vnimaniye!’ (Look out!) But it was too late. Like a killer shark, the huge finned bomb pinned its victim down by the hips, squeezing out his agonised scream. Those that heard, stopped to look. The officer turned round, at the same time stopping two of his retreating men.




  Everyone rushed in to help the injured comrade, but found that they could do nothing. The ground was too steep and the bomb’s angle was wrong for wedging the bogie’s hydraulic jack. The old man knelt over the younger one --- a mere lad. ‘Ni bispakoityes, ni bispakoityes.’ (Don’t worry, don’t worry.) Perhaps it was a stupid thing to say, the old man thought, but he didn’t know what else to say in the circumstances. He gave the lad a fist to grip and rambled on with coarse jokes to distract him from the pain.




  Squirming with excruciating pain, the young sailor gasped out his words slowly: ‘U minya galava kruzhitsa.’ (I feel dizzy.) Speech was difficult, not just because of the pain, but because his native tongue was Arabic. Pressure became too great and his head slumped down into the soft sand.




  ‘On upal vobmarak,’ said the old man to nobody in particular. (He’s fainted.) The officer stood up and looked around for the jet fighter. It was circling around waiting to see if the retreat would recommence. He then looked round at the helicopters. He guessed that they would most likely have winches on board that were capable of shifting the bomb. That was his decision, then. His injured party would have to be left behind, to be tended by the British. Their doctors couldn’t be any worse than those ‘butchers’ in Yerevan, back in Armenia, he reasoned bitterly.




  The radio transmitter crackled out the mounting urgency and so he signalled his men to move out again. All but the old man obeyed. He stayed put, by his ‘apprentice’. The officer saluted with understanding in his dark Armenian eyes. ‘Da novi fstryechi,’ (Till we meet again,) he said, and then was gone, running down the beach to join his men in the dinghies. The cable, disconnected from the bogie, snaked down after them, and disappeared into the water.




  The Royal Navy helicopters landed with a whirlwind commotion, spilling out their twenty four marines onto the red garnet sand. M16 assault rifles, with M203 grenade launchers attached, swung about in all directions. The Russians were well out in the water by this time and so the men stood and watched them bobbing up and down in their dinghies. When they turned and went among the wreckage, they were surprised to find an old sailor in a black sweater and Yalta on his cap, standing in their midst. Only an odd rifle pointed at him, as he spoke in a heavy Uzbeck accent. ‘Prashu vas pamoch mnye? Praizashol nishchasni sluchi. On siryozna ranyen.’ (Will you help me? There has been an accident. He is badly hurt.)




  Nobody understood. They simply stared on tensely as he babbled and gestured in his strange ways. The chisel-faced Welsh sergeant pushed his way through to the front. ‘What’s goin’ on, then? Who the hell are you, then? He understood as soon as the Russian pointed to the black ‘thing’ trapped beneath the bomb. They both knelt down quickly beside the still body.




  ‘On patiryal saznaniye,’ said the Russian. (He’s lost consciousness.)




  ‘He’s lost consciousness,’ said the Welshman.




  The sergeant stood up and bellowed out to the helicopter. Its winch paid out the cable and they fastened it, with nerve tingling care, around the bomb, behind the anterior fins. ‘What yer bleedin’ all peein’ for, then?’ shouted the Welshman in jest. ‘ ‘Fraid of meetin’ the angels, are we? An’ all of us all regular little choir boys, too.’ The Wessex lifted into the air, straining on the cable, until the bomb rose up at its front. Gingerly aware of the nuclear menace hovering beside them, they put the stretcher down beside the sailor and placed him carefully onto it. Some would have said none too carefully, but everyone was in a hurry, with ‘something else’ on their minds. ‘Watch it, now. We don’t want to break any ruddy bones, now, do we?’ chided the sergeant, monitoring every single move.




  The Russian felt relieved, as he watched his young charge being stowed in the helicopter’s stretcher bay. The sergeant touched the Russian’s arm lightly, and with a hard smile ordered him with a nod onto the aircraft. Appreciating the casual discipline, the Russian adjusted his cap into a more formal position, with Yalta facing defiantly to the front. He climbed on board beside his mate. The helicopter cluttered away into the sky with its urgent load, leaving the others to guard the Lancer and its nuclear charge.




  03.10hrs. Her Britannic Majesty’s Forces were once more the sole occupants of Her northern-most shore. Off-shore, the great Russian ‘whale’ blared its warning horn and dived, disappearing in a mighty swelling of waves and foam.




  05.01hrs, 23rd June, UNST.
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  05.01hrs, 23rd June, Unst. The knife and fork clinked and grated, cutting the small room’s silence, as well as the two golden kippers on the chipped NAAFI plate. Grilled with a generous knob of butter, the fish looked delicious, infusing the blade and prongs with hungry gusto, to thrust and parry, flashing their scars like proud sabres. Now and then the fork stabbed at the plate of steaming mussels garnished with chopped onions and white prawn sauce. John Sherman watched all this this from his chair by the window, when he wasn’t looking out at the transport plane being serviced by the RAF ground- staff maintenance crew. The eyes looked on, while the mind worked elsewhere, running the facts over and over again through its treadmill. Not fully satisfied that there was nothing to worry about, he tried to ignore the burning unease in his mind, relaxing until his grey concentration began to drain away. He began to take more note of the other man’s ‘involvement’ at the table.




  Amusement poked through his dark mood for a few seconds, as did the awakened pang of hunger in his stomach, as he watched the other devour the kippers in a miniature martial arts display. He now wished that he hadn’t turned down the NCO cook’s offer of a similar golden breakfast from the island’s culinary waters. But it was always the same when you were called out early on an assignment like this. And stomach habits changed no more than work did. You took it all in your stride, with no more fuss than that shiversome early morning pinch of Andrews liver salts, until it became second nature.




  Called out of his shallow sleep, in London, at 02.46hrs this morning, he had been airborne and racing north to investigate, on coded instructions, at 03.04hrs. The message had been short and precise. A US Bomber in Operational Flight had gone down; flying out from RAF Fairfield, destined for Iraq. His job was to look into it; to ‘get it and vet it’. Nothing more was needed to set up the alert signals in his mind. All aspects of terrorist sabotage spiked up in his mind, like those tiny pin-pricks of light you try to comprehend on a radar screen. These had given way to pressure points of frustration, where impatience with the monotonous flight left you no more to do than occasionally tap your restless feet.




  Sherman’s companion over at the table, Wing Commander Fodlow, from RAF Intelligence, had shared the flight. Neither of them had exchanged much conversation. What few words they had uttered had hardly managed to leave the strained jokes stage. Fodlow seemed to have no inclination to see the serious side of things. A jolly pear-shaped product of the ‘Biggin Hill-Bader’ school, with about as many flying hours as a frightened hen, he saw all problems remedied with a tap on the knee from the M.O.’s rubber hammer. Sherman, himself, was a staff officer on the Directorate of Service and Intelligence. A mind-jangling job where you had to correlate all the information gathered by all the secret intelligence services. That could often be a wearisome chore, when petty bickerings among the rival intelligence officers caused snippets of information to be snipped even further. This caused needless delays and certainly saved nobody’s tax-money. That was why he had to investigate points for themselves, on the spot, and gather all the data into a form that kept everybody happy, especially department heads --- and let the nation sleep peacefully at night. An optimist’s folly, perhaps.




  They had flown into camp, here at Unst, at 04.11hrs, to join the technical team already working on the wrecked Lancer for signs of sabotage. That was just under an hour ago. Since then, two reports had come through from the team, at progressive stages, completely dismissing sabotage at that stage. They were waiting now for final clearance. Sherman fingered the crisp notepaper with the coded message which the radio operator had given him on the plane. The two latest reports should have set his mind at rest. But they didn’t. He was still uneasy about something, somewhere, at the back of his mind. Nothing specific; nothing more tangible than that faint thread of tension that you can’t dismiss until you’ve finally put the lid on the job. Totally irrational, of course. He knew this, but accepted it as the habitual uneasiness that others called ‘alertness’, that always waylaid you at this unfinished stage of the investigation. Besides, it was his job to be suspicious. That was what he was paid for; to be suspicious and safe, rather than satisfied and sorry. He went over the points again in his mind, while watching Wing Commander Fodlow contentedly champing away to his palate’s delight.




  The wall phone rang in the stone passage between their room and the staff kitchen.




  Fodlow jumped up and chewed his way over to the phone. He picked up the receiver and grunted into it, while sucking around noisily for particles between the teeth. ‘Uh-huh.’ He waited, searching the gums with his tongue while the phone spoke. ‘Uh-huh,’ he said again and found time to blow out a particle, which stuck on the phone’s wall unit. ‘Uh-huh -- All right -- Thanks -- Fine -- Right.’ He went back to his seat, completely oblivious to all but the noisy searchings in his mouth. He took in another mouthful of fish before sharing the information with his companion. ‘It’s all clear. That was them on just now. Seems it was just a freak malfunction in the engine thrust units, or whatever it was he was saying in his technical jargon. I, for one, just can’t keep up with this new fangled blah blah of a technical language that’s developing these days. But anyway, one thing’s for sure --- it’s definitely not a bolt of Allah’s fury cast down on us, courtesy of Al Qaeda’s champion zealot, Osama Bin Laden and his lot. No trace of devious technical tamperings anywhere. A routine Board of Inquiry lot will have to be gone through, of course. Otherwise, okay. Does that sound all right to you?’




  Fodlow’s nonchalant manner, with its matter-of-fact sum up virtually meant that he was taking full credit for everything being ‘okay’. Sherman could have bet that he harboured a secret yearning for the simplicity of a bygone era of Biggles gung-ho chivalry in the clean clear air. Perhaps a lot of us did. But he didn’t like the way the Wing Commander’s final remark had come. With its hint of a chiding, as if he was being blamed for everything. But he resisted the urge to show his annoyance. ‘Yes, I suppose so. Commander. It sounds all right. What about the bomb, itself?’




  ‘Will it go off, you mean?’




  ‘Yes, something like that.’




  ‘No, not a chance of it, from what I gather. At least I shouldn’t think so. Not with this latest integrated link-on set-up they have on it now. I gather that it works something like the principle of Nobel’s dynamite. Kick it, beat it, but it still won’t go off without its programmed detonation.’




  ‘That’s just as well, then, I suppose. It wouldn’t do to overgrill the fish, would it, Commander?’




  Sherman’s faint personal stab had got through. Fodlow, for all his apparent gastronomic preoccupation, took the message sharply and cast a wary glance at Sherman, over the mussel impaled on his fork. He wiped some more prawn sauce onto it. ‘But I guess you really haven’t seen any real action, have you? Not like we did in the Gulf and the Falklands. With flak and anti-aircraft tracer bullets strafing your arse, you had to count your balls regularly, I tell you. No titanium in those days.’




  ‘Titanium?’




  ‘Armour plating --- American A-10 Thunderbolt. Not that you would have been through anything like that, eh?’ The aggressive hold sparking up in the tired eyes struck Sherman as a boyish challenge to swipe and bash his conker.




  ‘No, not quite, Commander. Strictly speaking, Biggles Books were my line of fire in those days.’




  The casual small talk lost its edge as suddenly as it had begun and immediately dried up. Both minds came back to the more important matter in hand. With his fork nakedly empty, Fodlow hunched over it with a philosophical look, ready to speak after he’d swallowed his mouthful. ‘You’ll no doubt be wanting to see them yourselves, after our Intelligence Section has interrogated them?’




  ‘Faster than fast. As soon as your people are finished, we want in, without a second to spare. As it happens, we know quite a lot about them already.’




  ‘Such as?’ queried Fodlow, with a note of disbelief in his raised eyebrows. Sherman already knew his notes and read them off from memory before his fingers found them, dashing any doubts Fodlow may have had. ‘They’re from the submarine, Yalta; ‘Delta’ class, nuclear powered; first launched in seventy-nine; captained by one Mikhail Yeltsov; born in Yerevan, Armenia; two children; the son graduated from the Timiryazev Agricultural College; the daughter died from polio, aged three. The submarine left Gdynia in Poland, on Thursday the seventeenth, to take up watch on our NATO Summer-time Operation off the Jan Mayen Island, off Iceland.’ Sherman paused for an apparent mental breather, looking at the floor with his inner puzzle, before looking back at the Wing Commander. ‘At least that’s what it’s supposed to have been doing after leaving Gdynia. That’s our official statement for keeping face, so to speak. Where the thing went to after the seventeenth is pretty much unclear. Damned well anyone’s guess, really.’ Although Sherman’s words came out in a constantly calm pace, Fodlow could virtually hear the situation gnawing away like a true rodent across the room in the younger man’s mind.




  ‘Delta class? They’re quite big, aren’t they? remarked Fodlow with what sounded like faint touch of envy.




  ‘Very big, Commander. Almost twice the length of ours. Forty thousand tons dry weight, or else nine thousand tons displacement submerged; sixteen SSN-8 missile launchers, single warheads, though. Nautical range, four thousand, two hundred miles.’




  ‘Hmm, pretty impressive. Still, they never quite got the bomb. That’s the main thing,’ said Fodlow, with a sudden halting fall of voice in the last words, pulled down by the gravity of the situation.




  Sherman saw the change of mood and took the opportunity to stress his question urgently, without having to pull rank with priority orders. ‘Can we go over again what exactly it is they did get, so I can check for anything I’ve missed. No room for errors, right, Commander?’




  ‘Yes, quite right.’ Fodlow’s cough seemed more for embarrassment than for any particles bothering the windpipe. ‘Well, in actual fact they damn well nabbed all the Strategic Nuclear Strike Command codes. Targets, codenames, the lot. Damn bloody horror of a nuisance.’




  Sherman scribbled down what codes he could remember in his notebook and put a stroke through each of them. ‘A tiny bit of a problem there, Commander. Only double shift work for the poor ‘technics’ having to reallocate routes and targets and reshuffle codes. There again, maybe Putin won’t be too happy, himself, when he discovers that we know the strategic codes for his ‘mini’ Cold War with recommenced cold front patrolling of Western air space and waters.’ Sherman’s calm words did nothing to reassure either of them in their minds, as they both visualised the mountains of paperwork and headaches that would have to be suffered to put things right again. Not to mention having to face and satisfy angry enquiry committees.




  Made no difference that it wasn’t their plane; it had crashed in their back yard. And with a nuclear bomb. That would have the politicians ‘exploding’ their anger on the Defence Minister.




  ‘Just as well the crew survived, all but the pilot, that is. It could have been a lot worse if he hadn’t stayed on board to bring it down as best he could -- and perish, poor bastard. They could have been picked up by the sub’, if the trawler hadn’t reached them first. Were they really going to drop that nuke, to fry Bin Laden’s lot, as well as everyone else, I wonder?’




  Sherman pondered the implication, with its uneasiness, in the Commander’s words.




  ‘Presumably having it on operational flights, without actually using it, is the President’s new muscle-flexing tactic to match Putin’s recent stepped-up show of strength. At least to God, I hope so.’ Clearly not fully convinced with his own answer, he drummed his pen down sharply on his notepad. Fodlow caught the unsettled motion. He wasn’t feeling too happy himself. Sherman looked up from his writing and stared out of the window. The mobile compressor chugged and shuddered away, all by itself. Standing over it was the brilliant white B.Ae 146 transporter that was to take them and the B83 bomb back to the Nuclear Strike Command base in Buckinghamshire. There, it would be examined for damage by the team of nuclear fission specialists. Let’s hope to God, it gets there in one piece, Sherman thought. Otherwise, a team of ‘mushroom’ specialists would be more appropriate.




  05.11hrs. Sherman watched the flight-sergeant strutting briskly towards their building, to tell them that the plane was ready. Zipping up his leather writing case, he stood up to go. Fodlow looked up at Sherman. ‘Ready at last, are we? About time, too,’ he said. He looked at his watch, then down at his plate. Sherman followed the other’s longing look at the unfinished breakfast. Any faint pang of hunger he may have felt earlier, when offered breakfast by the corporal, was now gone. He had to ‘stomach’ other things first. ‘You finish that, Commander. After all this, I think we can spare a few more minutes. I’ll go on ahead. I’ve still a couple of questions I want to put about before they fly us back.’




  12.17hrs, 23rd June S.E.London.
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  12.17hrs, 23rd June, S.E.London. The eerie whine of the electric motor grew louder as the yellow Coventry Climax fork-lift truck ghosted up out of the abyss of darkness. Darkness was all around, where only a few tungsten lamps winked feebly from the warehouse roof that spanned 31,000 square feet. The Climax hummed up closer, along the passage between the mountains of of wooden crates, so that nervous pigeons fluttered away to safer positions among the spiderwork of steel roof beams. Cool as it was, the sound of the wings flapping in the invisible dust inspired an even more chilly air to the place.




  The truck came right up and Sherman stepped aside to let it pass, with its two tonnes load of ten inch diameter oil-valve camshafts bound for Abu Dhabi. His eyes were not fully adjusted from the blazing sun outside, and he had a little difficulty in seeing what other kind of components were stored in the boxes around him. There were obviously many different kind, judging by the varying sizes and shapes of the boxes. The components made under official Government contract looked no different from the rest, except that they were sectioned off behind thick wire partitions with the gates heavily padlocked. Even Sherman didn’t know what he was passing, when he passed the wire mesh area with the KEEP OUT: CALL OFFICE FOR KEYS notice in large red lettering.




  He did know, however, that Ancol Engineering Ltd., like many firms in the United Kingdom, was commissioned by the Ministry of Defence to make various specific parts of an integrated armaments programme. Each part, isolated this way, looked innocent enough to its production team, giving no indication of how many cities it could help to raze to the ground. The idea was also to cut down the risk of security leakage. That was becoming more of a headache, with the increasing number of foreign, particularly Russian and Middle Eastern, factory inspectors coming into the country to supervise their countries’ contracts with British firms. Money was always a blindfold to problems like this. Some Government sources were stirring to the issue and one MP had even approached Sherman to ask him to compile a report for the Home Secretary. But that wasn’t why he was here this morning.




  Sherman ducked under the low wooden door, out into the bright daylight. The narrow corridor connecting the warehouse to the office block had glass walls and a glass roof.




  He took in the panorama with a hand shading his eyes for a few seconds, to spy out his contact. There he was, standing on the second stage of the steel staircase that zig-zagged up the gable end of the building like a giant ivy climber. The man had sounded anxious on the phone and he’d openly stated that he was anxious for someone from Security to come along to help him out. You couldn’t help but conclude that the man must have been anxious, considering that he had come all this way to Deptford from the top secret base in Buckinghamshire. Sherman felt that horrible tingle you have when bad premonitions start up in your mind.




  At a closer look, up the last few clanging stairs, the man in his duffle coat and broad frame plastic spectacles looked the exact stereotype of the school swat. Nicknamed ‘Thinker’ or ‘Stinker’ probably. With his long pale sexless face, he looked ten years younger than he was written up as in the classified Official Secrets dossier. Sherman smiled inwardly at the thought of the man suddenly whipping out a stink bomb and catapult from his pocket. The man’s feet shifted with nervous impatience and he consulted his watch to hide his uneasiness. ‘You’re early,’ he said. ‘Seven minutes, to be precise.’




  Sherman had nothing against the man, but he tried not to be initially too friendly. ‘Miracles do happen. I’m usually late. You are Mr Blenning, I take it?’




  ‘That’s right. Graham Charles, to be precise. Here.’ He handed over the wallet with its three plastic windows flashing their credentials. The photograph in the middle panel was a right nightmare snap, but it was enough to confirm that the man was indeed Graham Charles Blenning. The third panel had a statement from the Science Research Council proclaiming that G C Blenning Ph.D, M.Sc., was a senior physicist in the Daresbury Nuclear Physics Laboratory, who also worked in part-time liaison with the Ministry of Defence as a nuclear fission consultant. That meant that he bred nice little atom bombs.




  Sherman snapped the wallet shut and handed it back smiling. ‘That seems to be in order. So exactly what is it you think that we can do for you, to have me running along here, when I could be a hundred other places instead?’




  ‘To be precise, you can get them to let me in here, for a start.’ Blenning thumbed at the building behind him. ‘I told them that I was a Government employee and I showed them my passes. But they just wouldn’t budge. They said that I had to have someone from the Ministry “to endorse an official entrance onto the premises,” to use their precise words.’




  Sherman nodded with a neutral cold face. ‘I’m sure that you’ll understand that we can’t be too careful in these matters. But then you can tell me all about it. Let’s go inside first. These open stairways can make you feel naked, even with shoes on.’




  They went in through the glass storm door, through the semi-glass Staff door and through the first fire door, before the receptionist looked up from along the passage. Sherman halted for a second between the two fire doors.




  ‘It’s to do with that American beauty of a B83 bomb, isn’t it?’ he said warily, feeling the answer already burning in his stomach, as he searched Blenning’s face.




  ‘Yes. Well, it started with that. Yes.’




  Sherman’s mind buzzed. Started? Only started? Christ. Don’t you just love these guys who can’t keep things simple. There was that uneasy feeling coming over him, when you know -- just know -- that it’s not going to be your day. Not by a long chalk. He wondered if he had been wrong, rushing lunch in the canteen to come out here, now that it was trying hard to climb back up his throat. A packet of Rennie tablets materialised in his hands, and he popped one under the tongue to suck slowly with a rueful twisting of the mouth. Just like when you concede argument to the warhorse mother-in- law. ‘I wonder why I don’t think I’m going to like what comes after “yes”.’




  Sherman’s frown deepened as he turned and pushed through the second fire door.




  ‘Yes, you see, to be precise ------’




  ‘Later.’ Sherman snuffed the man’s remark with a sharp wave of the hand, at the same time holding up his MoD security pass to the girl. ‘Sherman. I phoned earlier. I need to speak to your Mr Darrel? It’s important.’




  Her eyes didn’t jump at the sight of the security pass, but her voice was extra hushed. ‘I’ll tell him you’re here. If you’ll just wait a moment.’




  Mr Darrel, the Senior Administrative Executive for Ancol, took them along to a door marked with Senior Technical Executive, and disappeared inside. They waited until he reappeared, gave them a nervous nod, and retreated along the corridor. The Senior Technical Executive had a few private words with Sherman, before taking them along to yet another door, marked Drawing Office. At Sherman’s request, he left them on their own. The office’s inner walls were glass and wood and looked on to a warren of similar glass and wood offices in the bygone style of the ‘40s Ealing Studio Films era. Breezy George Formby was surely around in the background somewhere, strumming his ukulele? A small panel on the third wall looked on to the factory floor, where lathes turned smoothly, snivelling out long curly snots of gleaming steel.




  Sherman sat down on the cold radiator with his back to the glass panel and toyed with the cactus plant named a whole mouthful of Opuntia monacantha. He let Blenning rummage around with the drawings he’d been given from the Classified filing cabinet. His patience thinned out as he waited, the seconds ticking by into minutes on the wall clock. The secretive rustling of the papers didn’t help much, no more than did Blenning’s maddening low mutterings. Sherman could stand it no longer. He sat bolt upright, staring into Blenning’s bent back. ‘So what is it that you so urgently needed to tell me about the bomb, Mr Blenning?’ The statement came out with just enough measured control to make the command sound like a polite question.




  ‘To be precise, it simply won’t explode.’ Blenning’s remark was clinically precise and unemotional, unaware as he was, that he could be annoying anyone.




  Sherman felt his goodwill plunging rapidly down the tube like mercury, and folded his arms resolutely. ‘So let’s get this straight, now. Am I to understand that you’ve dragged me all this way out here just to tell me that?’ His annoyance was out in the open now. ‘Forgive my ignorance on the technical side, Blenning, but isn’t that what it’s supposed to do? Namely, to explode only when programmed to do so?’




  The horror that his analysis could be so misunderstood clocked up like sacrilege in the scientist’s systematic mind. His pale placid face fired with feeling and his manner became anxious, with awkward gesticulating hands.




  ‘No, no, you don’t understand me. This bomb has been designed so as never to explode. Never. Not even when programmed to do so!’




  12.29hrs, 23rd June, S.E. London.
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  12.29hrs, 23rd June, S.E. London. Sherman stood up from the radiator and stared at Blenning, letting the words sink into his brain. The alarm bells began to ring out behind the eyes that took on a new hardened look. ‘If I understand you correctly, Blenning, the bomb is, in fact, a dud?’




  ‘Well yes, to be precise, there is no way in which the mechanical components can be activated to bring together the two critical masses needed to initiate the atom bomb which acts as the absolute bomb’s detonator.’




  ‘Like I said, it’s a dud.’




  ‘Well yes, I suppose it is,’ said Blenning, as if seeing Sherman’s definition in a new light; as a discovery somehow different from his own. ‘I must confess that it took me some time to tumble to the conclusion. You see, since we were inspecting the bomb for damage, then it was only natural that we should not be surprised by any of the parts failing to function. They did, in fact, fail to function as you know, but without cause from damage. Instead of being damaged, these parts were perfectly cut and shaped as they had been designed and drawn in these very plans. In fact, they were performing as instructed, to function perfectly as the imperfect bomb, if I may use the paradox.’




  Sherman leaned forward on the large desk and flicked a blueprint pensively. He clearly understood what Blenning was saying and he didn’t like the idea one bit. A new thought suddenly struck him. He pushed the heavy, now ‘useless’, papers away and looked up at Blenning. You said that the bomb was failing to function because of these designs; then that means that ----’




  ‘Precisely. It means that with all the component parts manufactured from these blueprints, different parts by different manufacturers, this is not the only bomb which will not go off. In fact ---’




  ‘They’re all duds!’ Tearaway fire engine sirens now wailed in Sherman’s head, pushing the original impatience aside. Christ! What more was to come? At first you can’t get the ruddy guy to speak; now you almost wished you could choke the bastard, to stop him giving you more of his disturbing scientific titbits. The irony hit him like cold rain on a drunk’s face. How Maureen had often fired the same temptation in him when she had let loose with her volley of words in one of her histrionic ‘period’ moods. And he hadn’t been drunk on those ‘hell’ nights. Only once. The last time; when he had almost lost control and returned her scream; but he hadn’t. That was when she wanted the divorce. He had suggested trial separation. Her mother could only look pleased at the news when it got out. That was three -- no -- two years and ten and a half months, now.




  ‘Well, not quite,’ said Blenning, breaking into Sherman’s distraction. ‘Say perhaps ninety-five per cent of the Blue Steel deterrent programme. You see, these ‘annexe-plans’ are the recent improvement for the bomb that was agreed upon by majority decision of the Nuclear Armaments Council two years ago, and brought into actual production only this January. Since this decision was taken and acted upon, only about ninety-five per cent of the Blue Steel programme has been refitted with the new design so the five per cent of Blue Steel is still operational.’




  ‘Whatever way you put it, it all boils down to the fact that for the last five months we’ve been operating the country’s nuclear strike force like a box of dud Christmas crackers. No -- correction -- a box of ninety-five per cent dud Christmas crackers. I suppose we should thank Heaven, or perhaps more appropriately in this case, Hell, for small mercies.’




  Blenning had said his piece as a diagnostic scientist and now considered that the prognosis was a matter for Security and Mr Sherman. His eyes shone with great interest as he scanned over the blueprints. To Sherman it all looked like a daft cut-out print for a cardboard boat or puppet that you found on the back of the breakfast cereal box.




  ‘It’s all really quite clever,’ said Blenning at last. If he gave no appearance of being upset by the findings, it was only because he was preoccupied with the scientific implications. He was in his element now, where a lecture was fitting to explain the very mastery of the technique used. ‘Quite fascinating really. The principle of the design has been left untouched. Only the dimensions have been altered by the microscopic minimum necessary to inflict the maximum degree of disorder.’




  ‘The dimensions?’




  ‘Yes, a few millimetres here and there, added or removed and the intended co-ordination of the system breaks down. For instance, take my watch here. The overall resultant function of ‘time’ being told on a silly dial is brought about by the co-ordinated teamwork of the individual pieces. Not only is shape important, but size also is very specifically limited. Thus, change a few teeth or escarpment levers in size and the watch ceases to function. The important thing is that we notice that the watch ceases to function because the watch is an actively employed piece; its performance is regularly checked when we consult it for time. On the other hand the blueprint, when divided and subdivided into separate drawings, offers no reliable means of detecting any errors.’




  ‘You put it all very nicely, Blenning. What we don’t suspect, we don’t see.’




  ‘Precisely. It’s only fortunate that your Ministry asked me to examine the bomb.’




  ‘It’s only fortunate that my Ministry has its freaks as well, Mr Blenning.’




  ‘Sorry?’




  ‘Something else. Doesn’t matter.’ Sherman was thinking how ‘errors’ had to be substituted by deliberate tamperings. He smiled inwardly as he folded the blueprints and thought of the freak malfunction that the RAF engineers had said had caused the Lancer to crash. Well it was an absolute blessing in disguise that the plane had crashed. And to think old Fodlow had been worried by a few scraps of paper being taken by the Russians. If he’d known what those sailors had really left behind when they left the bomb! If the Russians had known! So much for Strike Force Command’s strong arm role of defence of the realm. You could just as well imagine that legendary ‘Thin Red Line’ holding back the Russian assault at Sebastopol with rubber muskets and rubber musket balls. Not quite a rib-tickler, alas.




  With the blueprints folded under his arm, Sherman opened the door for Blenning, ushering him out.




  ‘Are you taking those drawings with you? Won’t we get into trouble?’




  ‘You let me worry about things like that, Mr Blenning. I’ll take care of that side of things, don’t you worry. My Ministry, as you put it, is going to be asking you to recompense by solving some of their little problems in the next few days. Come on, let’s go. We’ve seen all we need to see here. I’ve a feeling we’re going to be watching out for “bullets strafing our arses”.’




  ‘Sorry?’




  13.18hrs. Their car bowled along Evelyn Road and on along Jamaica Road, before Sherman decided to turn off, towards the Old Kent Road junction. It was a necessary change, he thought. He had originally intended going on back the way he had come, via Tooley Street and Tower Bridge. That way, he could have turned off before the bridge, to drop in at the pre-arranged dockside local to meet the contact. But that was off now. Things had changed. Keyed up into this new situation, he frowned as he tried to think how much they had changed. The contact was high risk material, too sensitive to allow for phoning on the mobile. The man was familiar with the procedure, with the danger it entailed, and would know how to look after himself. Standard action was for contacts to disperse after an agreed time lapse, if the other side failed to turn up. That hadn’t changed. If only you could change the damned traffic lights! Sherman thrummed the steering wheel, but the traffic in front paid no attention. It remained stock still. When the twisting snake of vehicles did move off again, it was at a snail’s pace, bumper to bumper.




  13.28hrs. The junction spread out ahead of them, with its giant concrete tentacles waving its new generation’s hard farewell to an older gentler London. It was awkward, as well as sad.With its great labyrinth of concrete stairways and pedestrian underpasses, spotted with coded signs, you definitely needed an honours degree in geography to navigate your way to the public lavatory.




  They drove on, along New Kent Road, along St George’s Road and then onwards along Westminster Bridge Road. All the while Sherman was tossing this new information about in his head, deciding the best signals to put out from the Directorate’s Central Intelligence Exchange bank to the other departments, without dropping the egg. Somewhat tricky, considering it was an inside job. He needed to make a phone call. But not on the mobile. An outside phone was safer.




  The traffic was slowing up again for the lunch-time period. They slowed down before the bridge itself. Sherman leaned over the wheel to crane up at Big Ben. ‘Nearly quarter to.’ He looked round at Blenning. ‘In view of the circumstances, Mr Blenning, I think it would be a good idea if we went and consulted Sherlock Holmes.’




  ‘Sorry?’




  ‘They do a nice bar lunch. Nice atmosphere too.’ It was only two minutes away from the office and he needed to make that outside call. He could do that and then be in the office without having to account too much for himself and his whereabouts. More to the point, it was also off the beaten track from those droves of news hacks sniffing around for sensational scoops in the lunch-time watering holes along Whitehall.




  14.15hrs, 23rd June, Northumberland St.
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  14.15hrs, 23rd June, Northumberland St. Sherman checked his watch with the pub lounge’s wall clock. Broaley was late. He’d said five past. The fact that he was fussing over the time made Sherman admit to his edginess. Maybe it was nearer the time for his scheduled medical check-up. He made a mental note to have his secretary make an appointment for him with the Department’s counsellor. Soft name for ‘shrink’. Probably he needed some iron tonic pills to combat the effect of mountains of paperwork and endless interim committee meetings. He was certainly due for some leave, but that would have to wait. In normal circumstances involving a security leak he would have gone straight to the office and set the machinery in motion. But this was different. The damage was done, five months solid, as Blenning had said in his unwavering thermonuclear certainty. Twenty minutes more was not going to make any difference in stopping the boat from floundering on the rocks. More accurately, Sir Richard Hossley, Director General of the Department, would still be in session with the Minister himself, helping him tidy up and sweep ‘awkward things’ under the carpet, in preparation for the monthly Parliamentary Committee for Internal Security. One hell of a big hoovering job was going to be needed for this.




  But this wasn’t the only reason for holding back. If you jump forward with a report like this now, the general enquiries that ensue are going to lead to more selective investigations, and that is tantamount to putting the cat among the pigeons. No, to catch the pigeon, rather than frighten it away, you need a certain degree of stealth. You need to make a few ‘discreet’ enquiries on your own, through round about channels, rather than through the direct central channel. That was why he was waiting for Major Broaley, from MI5.




  ‘It’s two minutes fast,’ said a voice beside him, cutting through the hubbub of lunch-time chatter like a knife. Sherman looked round at Blenning. The man was beginning to irritate him with his precision sharp remarks; just like a knife, right enough. Blenning took another sip at his water like a school sports day pop, and then became more serious. The scientific problem was undoubtedly troubling him and had suddenly aged his sallow soft face in minutes, where a lifetime had been content to leave him boyish. ‘Have you any idea who is responsible?’ he asked Sherman.




  ‘ “To be precise”, no. Probably the lot of us; the whole damn human race, if we care to look at it that way.’ Sherman pulled his annoyance back and forced out a neutral smile. ‘No, not yet. It’s quite difficult to hold a one man vote on who gets the noose at this early stage.’




  ‘I see.’ Blenning bobbed his head up and down in deep thought to the statement and went back to his drink.




  Sherman tilted his head back and tried, meantime, to think of the best words for dropping the news to Hossley and the other departmental heads. He looked at the Great Detective’s etching on the glass pane and wondered how he had put his many awkward cases to Queen Victoria and Europe’s many noble personages. A television newscaster standing at the bar looked his way and Sherman wondered exactly how he would put his words across to the public if he knew what the situation was.




  Major Broaley’s face, with its heavy black moustache, stood out in the babbling crowd as he came in the door, looking around with that suspicious air of the school janitor finding glue-sniffers in the boys’ toilet. His eyes met Sherman’s, and Sherman rose to elbow his way through to him. ‘Put that away, Major,’ said Sherman, handing Broaley a chunky glass of his favourite malt whisky. The gesture, with its brevity of words, allowed Sherman a few seconds to put up his guard against Broaley’s astute senses. There was perpetual rivalry between them, where Sherman had come into the spy game, from out of nowhere, over Broaley’s head. Sherman had had no field experience whatsoever, whilst the Major had put in a good many years active service.




  Having left Cambridge somewhat hastily with only a Second, and possibly because of a don’s distraught wife in his wake, Sherman had landed in this lot with the official right to think that he was one white-collared level higher than Broaley. But for his lack of Socrates and Sophocles, the Major should have been sitting behind Sherman’s desk, and in all fair probability would have made a better job of it. Sherman accepted this, and knowing that the Major thought likewise, was forever on his guard against the Major’s acid humour.




  Broaley’s tight-knotted Artillery tie and broad striped three-piece in worsted charcoal grey, summed up the man for what he was and wasn’t. The conservative colours and cutting spoke of the desk-ridden civil servant; whereas the unkempt sleeves with their extra wrinkles in the crooks of the elbows spoke of the active field agent. The tight waistcoat, pulling up towards the armpits, would have looked slightly overweight in another person, but in Broaley, it warned meddlers not to meddle. Broaley eyed Sherman for a moment over the glass then lowered it. ‘You sounded anxious on the phone,’ he said with the question loaded in one raised eyebrow, searching Sherman’s face for what it was holding back.




  ‘You could tell that, could you?’ Sherman said cautiously, wondering if, indeed, he had sounded anxious, over excited. He knew Broaley would like that.




  ‘Usually that, and a lot more.’ Broaley’s iron blue eyes twinkled with cunning anticipation as he sensed that he was on to something, as well as touching a raw nerve in Sherman’s otherwise controlled composure. His chin went up slightly to verify this point on Sherman. The light at that moment touched Broaley’s face at the right angle and you saw, with a little imagination, a Lord Lucan looking back. Quite fitting, where rumours said that his people had lent a hand in that infamous exit. But that was strictly off the record. Although perhaps not quite with a foot in the door at the Palace, there were still a few faint blue-tinged corpuscles coursing through the Broaley bloodline. A point he never failed to allude to when the opportunity arose. And that was often. Made no difference that he didn’t actually mention it, or press it upon you; you just felt it. Perhaps just stopping short of bending over to receive the cane across your lower end. That natural smooth aplomb for doing everything better and superior to you. One of his distant lot had been pally with Lord Cardigan at Balaclava. Apparently sharing the spoils of liquor, cards and last and least, women. A trifle ironic perhaps, since that Lord Lucan had been Cardigan’s hated brother-in-law, and immediate commander in the field, with very little respect reciprocated between them. Broaley also had a couple of his very own bright-ribboned gongs in his cupboard alongside his skeletons. Well earned, ‘beyond the call of duty’, they said.




  ‘Let’s go over there,’ said Sherman, and they shifted to a small space at the bar’s end. They both looked round themselves instinctively for eavesdroppers. But this was not really necessary. Firstly, nobody could hear what anyone else outside their own conversation was saying; secondly, the general clamour of voices and clinking glasses made bugging an impossibility. Besides, in public places like these, if you were going to suspect anyone and everyone of talking shop over their Perrier and garlic baguette, you were going to have to put in a colossal amount of bugging time. ‘Truth of the matter is, Major, that somebody has taken the corks out of our pop guns.’ Sherman went on to deliver the gist of the matter, watching Broaley’s face for developments. Broaley conceded no expression beyond the occasional jump of an eyebrow, looking down all the while into his liquor as he swirled it round in its glass. Sherman finished and waited. After the lull, Broaley looked up.




  ‘And you want me to do a little shifting of things down the line; upset the dust, ahead of your report?’ Broaley half closed his eyes in mock forethought.




  ‘As far as I can see that’s going to call for a lot of unauthorised door opening between the departments. Unofficial and all that. Stepping on people’s toes, give people indigestion. Some people are not going to like that. Somebody can get his fingers caught in the door in something like that.’ He shook his head slowly and blew a mock silent whistle.




  Sherman shifted uneasily as he recognised Broaley’s game of playing awkward. ‘Not unofficial; just off the Index and without a file, for the time being.’




  Broaley saw the chance to be dogmatic to the points in the rule book and jumped in sternly for shear devilry. ‘If it’s not unofficial, it’s official, and how can it be official if it’s not entered in the Index?’




  ‘Don’t be bloody awkward! You know damn well what I mean!’ Sherman was openly vexed now, and Broaley was enjoying it.




  ‘I know what you mean and I know only too well what can be difficult.’ Broaley sniffed, with the mischievous twinkle in his eye spreading out into a cheeky smile. Sherman all but felt it burn into his own face. ‘You make it sound as if you don’t want to be the bearer of bad tidings. Am I right, Sherman?’




  Sherman gave him a fiery stab with his eyes, before gulping down his drink and looking away. Of course he was bloody right! He knew that Broaley was bang on target with that point as well as the earlier one. Bearers of bad tidings, as he had put it, were almost inevitably lumbered with the task of salvaging the sunken ship. If they failed, their heads generally rolled. He may have been Broaley’s superior on a piece of paper, but off that paper, unofficially, he couldn’t make the man wag his tail an inch. Broaley enjoyed that thought as much as he was enjoying his drink. Sherman scratched his face to hide that fact that he was lost for an answer. The small victory was enough for Broaley and he stepped down his attack. ‘Do you think it’s anybody in your department?’




  ‘It doesn’t look that way,’ said Sherman, surprised at Broaley withdrawing his wedge so soon. He usually liked to push it in as far as he could, to inflict the maximum discomfort. ‘No, with all the technicalities involved, it has the smell of somebody on the extra-departmental Ancillary Register.’




  ‘What have you got out of him so far? Anything?’ Broaley jerked his head to indicate Blenning, seated at the far wall, whom he’d noticed was staring at them during their talk.




  ‘I’ll introduce you; see for yourself,’ said Sherman.




  Broaley listened to Blenning repeat the details and wondered all the while if the pale faced scientist could do anything else but stir tea with a slide- rule. He ventured a question to Blenning. ‘So far you’ve mentioned only the mechanical components. What about the electronic programme? Has that been tampered with, at all?’




  ‘Oh, but most certainly. To be precise, that was the more difficult to detect. Since, after all, the bomb was involved in a physical acci ----’




  ‘Keep it down,’ cautioned Broaley.




  ‘Right, sorry,’ whispered Blenning, leaning in closer.




  ‘No, don’t whisper. That’s just as bad, said Broaley. He shot Sherman a glance to see if he was sharing the same irritation. He was. ‘Just talk ordinary, but watch what you say, or don’t say.’




  ‘Of course, of course, you’re quite right. Yes, well the --- ah -- ‘thing’s’ electronic programming was least suspect because the ‘thing’ had been roughed up physically.




  However, once the mechanical discrepancy dawned on me, then tests were made on the circuits. Most rigorous tests, I can tell you.’




  ‘I believe you; Jesus Christ, I believe you, even if I don’t want to. So the circuits have definitely been fucked up? said Broaley.




  ‘Most certainly, without question.’




  Sherman thought for a moment. ‘And Ancol doesn’t handle the electronic side of it. In fact, only a few pieces of the mechanical side. Which means more than one factory is involved unknowingly. Probably a neat handful. Does that make sense to you, Mr Blenning?’




  ‘Yes, I have to say it does hold its logic. But to be completely sure, I would have to compare my findings with the original master blueprints which your Mini--- which your ‘people’ keep. This would enable us to root out the very factories which are involved in this misdemeanour. However, if I may venture a thought, this is only a small part of the matter. The complete cystic growth must be performed elsewhere, if you follow me?’




  ‘I think so, but clear our doubts.’ The slowness in Sherman’s words betrayed the fugged-up state of his thoughts. He looked round at Broaley.
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